S253295

S \_\_\_\_\_  
A152692

**IN THE  
SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

---

**FRANK C. HART and CYNTHIA HART,**

*Plaintiffs and Petitioners,*

vs.

**KEENAN PROPERTIES, INC.,**

*Defendant and Respondent.*

---

---

ON REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, DIVISION FIVE  
FOLLOWING APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE ALAMEDA COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT  
HON. BRAD SELIGMAN • CASE NO. RG16838191

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

DAVID L. AMELL (SBN 227207)  
MARISSA Y. UCHIMURA (SBN 284385)  
Maune Raichle Hartley French & Mudd LLC  
70 Washington Street, Suite 200  
Oakland, California 94607  
Tel: (800) 358-5922  
Fax: (314) 241-4838

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Is a witness' testimony identifying a defendant's logo or name inadmissible hearsay?
  
2. When a defendant destroys its invoices showing it sold a defective good, what constitutes sufficient evidence for authentication of the secondary evidence as to the invoices? [*See, e.g.*, Cal. Evid. Code § 1523(b)].

## INTRODUCTION AND REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW

The unprecedented 2-1 majority opinion below will mandate the following evidentiary rulings:

Q. Who drove into the crowd?

A. It was a yellow truck. The truck said Acme Trucks, Owner Driver Jim Jackson.

Objection: Hearsay.

Trial court: Sustained.

...

Q. What did you eat that made you ill?

A. A hamburger. It came in a bag reading "Jack-in-the-Box." It was wrapped in a white "Jack-in-the-Box" paper.

Objection: Hearsay.

Trial court: Sustained.

...

Q. Detective, what evidence did you have that the defendant lived in the house you found the drugs?

A. There were electric bills at the residence in his name.

Objection: Hearsay.

Trial court: Sustained.

...

Q. Whose dog was it that bit you when you were delivering the mail?

A. Bob Smith's dog. It had a collar, and it said: "If lost, return to Bob Smith, (415) 323-0055."

Objection: Hearsay.

Trial court: Sustained.

Prior to the published 2-1 opinion below, it was without question that a truck could be identified by its color or logo. [*Brown-Forman Distillers Corp. v. Walkup Drayage and Warehouse Co.* (1945) 71 Cal.App.2d 795, 797-798]. A food manufacturer's identity could be established through a witness' testimony that he saw a company logo. [*Vaccarezza v. Sanguinetti* (1945) 71 Cal.App.2d 687, 693]. A criminal's residence might be identified by specific indicia such as a name on documents in his home. [*People v. Williams* (1992) 3 Cal.App.4th 1535, 1541-1543].

The majority opinion eviscerates this longstanding precedent, holding that a witness' testimony that he saw the defendant's logo on the defendants' invoices is inadmissible hearsay. Specifically, the majority held that the trial court, the presiding judge for Alameda County Complex Asbestos Litigation, abused its discretion in admitting a foreman's identification of the defendant company's "K" logo and name "Keenan" on a company invoice. The majority opinion determined that the name and logo are inadmissible hearsay that fall within no exceptions. Notably, the defendant company in this case destroyed its invoices, making introduction of the actual invoices impossible. The majority also held that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that

there was sufficient authentication of Plaintiffs' secondary evidence as to the invoices, even though the defendant always delivered invoices with its signature "K" logo, as the foreman testified he witnessed in this case.

The majority's novel rule of law creates direct conflicts between the Courts of Appeal:

First, the majority opinion conflicts with well-settled precedent that an operative fact—such as a name or logo—is circumstantial evidence, and not hearsay. [*See, e.g., People v. Williams*, 3 Cal.App.4th at 1541-1543; *see also People v. Fields* (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 1063, 1068-1069; *Meeks v. Autozone, Inc.* (2018) 24 Cal.App.5th 855, 865].

Second, as the dissenting opinion holds, even if the defendant's name or logo on the defendant's invoices was offered for the truth of the matter asserted, this evidence is plainly admissible as an admission of a party opponent. [Evid. Code § 1220]. The majority opinion presents a clear conflict with this well-settled authority. [*See, e.g., Jazayeri v. Mao* (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 301, 324-325].

Whether identification of a name or logo is inadmissible hearsay is a matter of surpassing importance to state law. The majority opinion creates havoc at the most basic level in both criminal and civil cases. Because of this unprecedented published opinion, if a person suffers food poisoning by eating a hamburger wrapped in a "Jack-in-the-Box" wrapper, there can be no testimony that the wrapper said "Jack-in-the-Box." If a person is hit by a yellow truck reading "Acme Trucks," there can be no testimony as to the name of the truck. If a witness hears the greeting "Hi Norman" as the suspect walks into a room, such identification testimony is precluded under the Court of Appeal's rationale. This overturns established precedent. [*See e.g., People v.*

*Freeman* (1971) 20 Cal.App.3d 488, 492]. Notably, the law firms who requested publication of the majority opinion were fully transparent in their intent to use the majority opinion to exclude *all* evidence of product identification, whether it is on defendant's invoice, as in this case, or on defendant's physical product. [See Defendant Keenan's Letter Requesting Publication, filed below 11/13/18 ("Keenan Letter"); Low, Ball & Lynch's Letter Requesting Publication, filed below 11/14/18 ("Low, Ball & Lynch Letter")].

The majority opinion presents such a significant sea change in California law that a Westlaw search for "Is a logo or name hearsay?" produces the majority opinion as the top result. To say that this creates widespread uncertainty and chaos in both California criminal and civil cases is a gross understatement. Further, as noted by the dissent, wholly contradictory evidentiary rules will now apply in federal courts, which without question allow this evidence, versus California courts, where the majority opinion has tossed aside established precedent. Now, trial courts and courts of appeal have no clear answer to this question: How do plaintiffs and prosecutors identify the defendant?

This case presents an ideal vehicle to resolve pure questions of law on an issue of statewide importance. This Court's review is required.

## BACKGROUND

### **I. The jury found that plaintiff Frank Hart was exposed to asbestos-cement pipes supplied by defendant Keenan.**

At trial, the jury found that “Keenan supplied [asbestos-cement] pipes . . . exposed Mr. Hart to asbestos.”<sup>1</sup> [Opn. at 1].

Mr. Hart suffers from the asbestos cancer mesothelioma. [Opn. at 1]. In 1976 and 1977, he installed Johns-Manville asbestos-cement pipe in McKinleyville in Humboldt County. [Opn. at 2]. His employer was Christeve Corp., a contractor who won a public-works bid to install new sewer lines. [*Id.*; 9 RT 2434:8-25]. Mr. Hart’s job was “cutting asbestos-cement pipe,” and he “installed thousands of feet of the pipe.” [Opn. at 2].

Plaintiffs alleged that defendant Keenan, a distributor, supplied the asbestos-cement pipe to Mr. Hart’s jobsite.

#### **A. The project foreman identified “K” and “Keenan” on the invoices delivered with the asbestos-cement pipe.**

It is undisputed that defendant Keenan destroyed the invoices it delivered with its asbestos-cement pipe. However, Mr. Hart’s foreman on the McKinleyville project, John Glamuzina, identified the Keenan logo “K” and the word “Keenan” on the invoices he signed that accompanied deliveries of the asbestos-cement pipe. [Opn. at 6-8; 12 RT 3404:13-15, 3415:17-20].

---

<sup>1</sup> This factual background derives from both the evidence cited in the Opinion below and additional evidence in the appellate record whose omission from the Opinion was called to appellate court’s attention in plaintiffs’ Petition for Rehearing (filed 12/4/18).

Over 4,000 feet of Johns-Manville pipe were delivered to the site, one flatbed trailer at a time, several times a week. [*Id.* at 2, 3]. Mr. Glamuzina greeted many deliveries, checked the load against the “invoices” provided with the delivery, signed the invoices, and returned them to the front office at day’s end. [*Id.* at 2].

Mr. Glamuzina testified that he saw “the name Keenan on the invoices that [he] personally signed.” [Opn. at 3, 5-8; *id.* at 6]. The name Keenan “sticks out” in his memory because of “their K” logo. [*Id.* at 8]. He did not recall any other suppliers on the invoices he signed. [*Id.*].

**B. Substantial evidence corroborated the foreman’s identification of “K” and “Keenan” on the invoices.**

1. In the early 1970s, Keenan purchased an existing Eureka facility that stocked and distributed Johns-Manville asbestos-cement pipe, obtained the Johns-Manville product line, and continued to stock and distribute Johns-Manville pipe from that facility. [8 RT 2207:4-2209:5]. In 1977, when Mr. Hart was exposed to that pipe, Keenan was in a distributorship agreement with Johns-Manville to distribute its pipe to “Humboldt County and surrounding areas.” [13 RT 3673:11-3674:25, 3745:1-3]. Keenan’s facility was remote (“100 miles from nowhere”), making it the likely supplier for the nearby McKinleyville project. [8 RT 2207:4-2209:5].

2. Not only was Keenan the sole area distributor of Johns-Manville pipe, but it had already supplied that pipe to an earlier phase of the McKinleyville project.

The McKinleyville project was split into three phases, and Christeve won the bid for Phase 3. [9 RT 2434:8-25]. A Christeve competitor (Thibodo) won the bid for an earlier phase. [*Id.*] The Keenan

invoice in evidence shows that Keenan distributed Johns-Manville pipe to Thibodo for its earlier work on the McKinleyville project – as admitted by Keenan’s representative (Mr. Garfield). [15 RT 3242:3-19; 13 RT 3711:17-3712:16].

3. Keenan’s representative also established that, consistent with Mr. Glamuzina’s recollection, Keenan provided invoices that bore its distinctive Keenan logo. [13 RT 3710:1-19]. This logo was a mark suggestive of pipes – the product at issue – that were bent and arranged to form a capital “K” within a circle. [13 RT 3655:25-3657:4].

Moreover, providing these invoices with deliveries was critical to its “direct sales” business model. When a customer ordered Johns-Manville pipe, Keenan then bought the pipe from Johns-Manville and arranged for its delivery by either Johns-Manville or a common carrier. [13 RT 3666:11-3667:9]. These “direct” sales were Keenan’s most common practice, saving inventory space and manpower and thus reducing its costs. [13 RT 3668:13-3669:1].

Under this “direct sale” model, Keenan invoices were critical – the only way for the customer to identify and pay Keenan for the delivery. [8 RT 2218:19-2220:1].

4. Ms. Mitrovich, the Christeve’s bookkeeper in the 1970s, specifically recalls processing Keenan invoices with the “K” logo. The majority opinion cites her testimony that Christeve received “invoices” for “materials at the jobsite” but notes that she did not specifically recall “if Keenan supplied asbestos-cement pipe to Christeve in McKinleyville.” [*Id.*]. But Ms. Mitrovich connected Christeve directly to Keenan. Like Mr. Glamuzina, she also recognized the Keenan name and distinctive “K” logo. [9 RT 2463:10-2465:22, 2505:21-2506:12]. And

Ms. Mitrovich recalled that Christeve “dealt with” Keenan, she recognized Keenan invoicing, and she recalled paying invoices with the Keenan logo. [*Id.*].

5. Not only did Keenan have no local pipe-supply competitor, but the evidence specifically refuted that anyone else would have sent pipe, or anything else, with an invoice bearing the Keenan “K” logo.

Keenan acknowledged that it was required to protect its logo in trade. [13 RT 3723:19-25]. That trade was valuable – *e.g.*, sales volume of about \$186,000,000.00 in 1981 alone. [15 RT 3234:1-3235:21]. And when Keenan sold its name and logo to a third party in a 1983 asset sale, the buyer continued to use that valuable name and Keenan “K” logo in trade. [8 RT 2206:3-12; 13 RT 3698:14-18].

Further, Keenan offered no evidence that its valuable name and logo were ever infringed upon.

**C. The trial court held that testimony as to the “K” logo and “Keenan” name was admissible, non-hearsay.**

The trial court, the presiding judge for Alameda County Complex Asbestos Litigation, denied Keenan’s motion in limine to exclude the foreman’s testimony as to the “K” logo and “Keenan” name.

First, the trial court held that “a logo, emblem, or similar designation of identify [is not] testimonial hearsay; rather, it is circumstantial evidence of identi[t]y.” [Opn. at 9; 1 AA 118]. The trial court held that “[t]his case is . . . about whether or not somebody can testify he saw a name, or I’ll even use the words a ‘brand’ on a document and whether that’s circumstantial evidence of that. I think that the testimony is not testimonial. It’s not a matter that a hearsay rule would normally apply to and until the court of appeals addresses that, if I see a

yellow cab, I will allow permission to say it's a Yellow Cab. If I have somebody come in and say I saw a hat that had a big letter on it, I will allow that testimony, and if someone comes in and says I saw a big K on it, I will permit the testimony." [Opn. at 9-10; 4 RT 923:17-924:6].

Second, the trial court held that even if the "K" logo or "Keenan" name were testimonial evidence offered for the truth of the matter asserted, these were admissions of party-opponent Keenan, and therefore fell within a hearsay exception under Evidence Code section 1220. [1 AA 118].

Finally, the trial court found that there was sufficient evidence to authenticate the secondary evidence as to the destroyed invoices, including that Keenan's corporate representative testified that defendant Keenan always delivered invoices with its pipes, and that Keenan invoices were marked with the "K" logo. [1 AA 118-119].

**D. The jury found Keenan liable for delivering asbestos-cement pipe to Mr. Hart's jobsite.**

Based on all of this evidence, the jury found that "Mr. Hart was exposed to asbestos-cement pipe supplied by Keenan," apportioning Keenan "17%" of that fault for causing his disease. [Opn. at 4].

**II. In a 2-1 decision, the majority reversed, excluding testimony based on the Keenan logo as inadmissible "hearsay."**

In a split 2-1 decision, the court below reversed the judgment on the jury's verdict against Keenan.

**A. The majority held that identification of the logo "K" and name "Keenan" was inadmissible hearsay.**

The majority held that Mr. Glamuzina's "testimony" that the invoices were marked with a "K" or "Keenan" was "inadmissible

hearsay.” [Opn. at 1, 5, 9]. The majority held that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that the “K” logo and “Keenan” name were non-testimonial circumstantial evidence, and instead held that these identifying factors “were out-of-court statements offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted: namely, that Keenan supplied the pipes.” [Opn. at 9].

The majority also rejected the hearsay exception for party-opponent statements [Evid. Code § 1220], holding that the “declarant” of the invoices was not Keenan but Mr. Glamuzina. [Opn. at 13].

Further, the majority held that the trial court abused its discretion in finding sufficient evidence to authenticate Plaintiffs’ secondary evidence as to the destroyed invoices, holding that “Glamuzina’s testimony was insufficient” to do so. [Opn. at 14].

Thus, the majority held Mr. Glamuzina’s entire “testimony regarding Keenan invoices” inadmissible. [Opn. at 16].

The majority also found “no other evidence” from which the jury could find that Keenan supplied any pipe to the McKinleyville jobsite. [Opn. at 1, 16]. Thus, it reversed the judgment. [*Id.*].

**B. The dissenting opinion found that the “K” logo and “Keenan” name were admissions of a party opponent.**

Justice Needham dissented, finding that the “K” logo and “Keenan” name were admissions of a party opponent, and that there was sufficient evidence authenticating the secondary evidence as to the destroyed invoices:

1. Party-opponent hearsay exception: If the “K” logo and “Keenan” name were offered for their “truth,” they met the hearsay exception for the “statement of a party-opponent.” [Opn. at 19 (*citing*

Evid. Code § 1220)]. The trial court reasonably concluded that invoices bearing the “K” logo were “authored” by Keenan, making the “K” logo and “Keenan” name party admissions by Keenan. [*Id.* at 19-20].

2. Personal-knowledge testimony: Mr. Glamuzina had “personal knowledge” of the “facts *to which he testified* – that he personally saw invoices bearing Keenan’s name.” [Opn. at 22 (emphasis in original)]. This evidence, “if believed,” allowed the jury to “decide whether to infer that the pipe was indeed from Keenan.” [*Id.*].

3. Authentication and secondary evidence: Mr. Glamuzina’s “secondary evidence” about the content of the invoices was admissible because the invoices were sufficiently “authenticated” as Keenan invoices. [Opn. at 22]. The collective evidence (from Mr. Glamuzina, Ms. Mitrovich, and Keenan’s corporate representative) that Keenan’s invoices bore the distinctive “K” logo allowed the jury to “conclude that the invoices” he saw “were, in fact, Keenan invoices, as Mr. Hart purported them to be.” [*Id.*].

In sum, the dissent found no “abuse of discretion” in “admitting Glamuzina’s testimony.” [Opn. at 23]. And the dissent found the majority opinion particularly troubling in that it overturned a jury verdict in rejecting the circumstantial evidence that Keenan supplied the asbestos-cement pipes: “Of course, it was up to the jury to decide whether to believe Glamuzina’s testimony and trust his recollection of what he saw on the pipe invoices, and Keenan’s lawyer was free to present evidence and argue that Glamuzina was incorrect. But any doubts as to Glamuzina’s recollection went to the weight of the evidence, *not* its admissibility.” [*Id.* (emphasis in original)]. And because the jury

apparently “accepted Glamuzina’s testimony,” the majority’s reversal was “all the more disturbing.” [*Id.*].

Upon Keenan’s request, the majority and dissenting opinions were published on November 19, 2018.

**III. In a Petition for Rehearing, plaintiffs noted that the majority opinion omits facts material to the “hearsay” ruling.**

Plaintiffs filed a Petition for Rehearing, calling to the appellate court’s attention numerous facts from the record that were omitted from the Opinion’s factual recitation, all of which corroborated Plaintiffs’ secondary evidence that the invoices accompanying the asbestos-cement pipe were marked “K” or “Keenan.” [*See* 12/4/18 Petition for Rehearing at 7-11]. The Court of Appeal denied the Petition for Rehearing.

**DISCUSSION**

**I. Review is necessary both to secure uniformity of decision and to settle an important question of law.**

Plaintiffs and petitioners respectfully request this Court’s review of the published, split opinion below (Opinion), in which the 2-1 majority holds for the first time in California that a witness’s personal-knowledge testimony about seeing a company’s logo on company documents is inadmissible “hearsay” that falls within no exception. This ruling conflicts with longstanding California precedent and, if allowed to stand, will have far-reaching consequences in trial courts throughout the State. [*See* Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(2)].

- A. Uniformity of decision: The opinion’s novel “hearsay” rule conflicts with other published appellate decisions.**
  - 1. The majority opinion upends established precedent that operative facts are not hearsay.**
    - a. Identification of an operative fact is not hearsay.**

In line with established authority, the trial court stated that the “a logo, emblem, or similar designation of identity [is not] testimonial hearsay; rather, it is circumstantial evidence of identi[t]y.” [Opn. at 9-10; 1 AA 118].

The trial court’s holding accords with longstanding precedent. Documents not offered for the truth of the matter asserted are, by definition, not hearsay. Hearsay is defined in Evidence Code section 1200 as “evidence of a statement that was made other than by a witness while testifying at the hearing and that is offered to prove the truth of the matter stated.” Where “the very fact in controversy is whether certain things were said or done and not . . . whether these things were true or false, . . . in these cases the words or acts are admissible not as hearsay[,] but as original evidence.” [1 Witkin, Cal. Evidence (4th ed. 2000) Hearsay, § 31, p. 714].

Thus, “[i]f a fact in controversy is whether certain words were spoken or written and not whether the words were true, evidence that these words were spoken or written is admissible as nonhearsay evidence.” [*People v. Fields*, 61 Cal.App.4th at 1063, 1068-1069 (“Defendant’s possession of a pager which displayed the number for the telephone in the parking lot adjacent to the gas station utilized by [the drug dealer] is nonassertive conduct admissible either because it is

evidence of a relationship or indicative of the purpose for which it was used.”); *see also Meeks*, 24 Cal.App.5th at 865 (holding that trial court abused its discretion in excluding testimony as to content of missing text message, because content was not hearsay but instead offered to prove that objectively and subjectively offensive messages were sent); *Jazayeri*, 174 Cal.App.4th at 316 (overstatement of the number of dead or unusable chickens on the poultry condemnation certificates not hearsay because not offered for truth of matter asserted but as direct evidence of the fraudulent statements made by defendants)].

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