S253295 A152692

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FRANK C. HART AND CYNTHIA HART,

Plaintiffs and Petitioners,

v.

KEENAN PROPERTIES, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, DIVISION FIVE, FOLLOWING APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE ALAMEDA COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT, THE HONORABLE BRAD SELIGMAN, CASE NO. RG16838191

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

W. Joseph Gunter (C.S.B. 170810) jgunter@cmbg3.com
Gilliam F. Stewart (C.S.B. 260070) gstewart@cmbg3.com
CMBG3 Law, LLC
505 Montgomery, Suite 1045
San Francisco, CA 94111
Telephone: (415) 957-2315

Facsimile: (857) 272-6126

Attorneys for KEENAN PROPERTIES, INC.

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

Within the framework of *Osborne* and this Court's precedent in *Pacific Gas*, the *Hart Opinion* correctly found that the use of Mr.

Glamuzina's testimony regarding a disputed invoice to prove that Keenan supplied pipe was hearsay. The Opinion does not create a new definition of a hearsay statement.

II. The Opinion makes no new finding regarding the party admission hearsay exception—the proponent of the evidence must first show the party made the statement.

Plaintiffs cite to no authority holding that the contents of an unavailable document can be admitted as an admission against interest when the document is not authenticated and the parties dispute that the document ever existed.

Under the party admission exception, "[e]vidence of a statement is not made inadmissible by the hearsay rule when offered against the declarant in an action to which he is a party in either his individual or representative capacity, regardless of whether the statement was made in his individual or representative capacity." (Evid. Code, § 1220.) As the Opinion noted, "in order to bring a statement or declaration within the operation of the [party admission] rule contended for it must be shown that the statement or declaration was signed or made by the party against whose interest it is sought to have it apply; and that is not the situation here presented." (Opinion at 13, quoting *Pansini v. Weber* (1942) 53 Cal.App.2d 1, 5.) As discussed below, there is insufficient evidence to authenticate the disputed invoices—that is, there is no evidence that Keenan authored the specific invoices allegedly seen by Mr. Glamuzina at McKinleyville. The Opinion does not

set forth any new rule at all on the party admission issue, but merely adheres to the principle that there must be foundational evidence that the documents are what Mr. Glamuzina purports them to be. Failing that, there can be no conclusion that Keenan made the statements reported by Mr. Glamuzina.

In this Court's opinion in *People v. Lewis* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 415, the admissibility of certain drawings was at issue as "truth of the assertion that the defendant committed robberies with a sawed-off shotgun." (*Id.* at 498.) Although the prosecutor had theorized that a codefendant made the drawings, the prosecutor nonetheless "argued that the drawings were an 'admission' by defendant." (*Id.*) The Court found that "there was no evidence that the defendant made the drawings," and the party admission exception did not apply. (*Id.*) Such is the case here, where there is no evidence that Keenan made the documents described by Glamuzina.

Petitioners' theory that Keenan authored the disputed documents does not make it so. As the *Hart* Opinion points out, "Keenan's corporate representative had no information regarding whether Keenan sold pipes used in McKinleyville, and the Harts did not produce any invoices showing it did." (Opinion at 13.) Moreover, Olga Mitrovich, who was responsible for bookkeeping for Christeve during the relevant timeframe, testified that, although she recalled a K with a circle around it for the Keenan logo, she did not know if Christeve ever ordered asbestos-cement pipe from Keenan and

did not know if Keenan was a supplier to the McKinleyville job. (9 RT 2462:5–11, 2463:10–22.) Meanwhile, Mr. Glamuzina's testimony regarding this "admission" was vague; testifying that he recalled the Keenan invoices because of "their K and stuff is all – I don't know. Maybe it's through the years, maybe it's worked into my head, I don't know." (12 RT 3415:17–20.)

The Court of Appeal properly focused on the admissibility of the disputed document in analyzing whether the trial court erred in its assessment of the party admission exception. "Without a document showing Keenan supplied the pipes to the McKinleyville jobsite, Glamuzina's testimony was not admissible as an admission by Keenan, and the Harts do not contend any other hearsay exception applies." (Opinion at 13.)

The Harts contend that the Court of Appeal opinion conflicts with *Jazayeri v. Mao* with respect to the party admission exception to the hearsay rule embodied by Evidence Code section 1220. (Petition at 27–28, citing *Jazayeri, supra*, 174 Cal.App.4th at 324–325.) As explained above, the documents at issue in *Jazayeri* were alleged to be falsified by the defendants. The question was not whether the documents were literally true, but the "operative documents" necessary for the fact-finder to determine whether a fraud had been perpetrated. Further, in *Jazayeri*, the documents existed. The Maos could be cross-examined regarding truth or falsity of the documents. "Several witnesses," including Susan Mao herself, established that she was

responsible for preparing the documents and the documents were properly authenticated. The facts and the prosecutorial purpose of the documents in *Jazayeri* are completely different from those of *Hart*.

Plaintiffs cite to a number of cases finding records made during the course of business to be party admissions: "Poultry Condemnation Certificates" accountings (*Jazayeri, supra*, 174 Cal.App.4th at 324–325), financial documents (*Horton v. Remillard Brick Co.* (1915) 170 Cal. 384, 400), balance sheets (*StreetScenes v. ITC Entertainment Group, Inc.* (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 233, 244), income tax returns (*Shenson v. Shenson* (1954) 124 Cal.App.2d 747, 752), board meeting minutes (*Sill Properties, Inc. v. CMAG, Inc.* (1963) 219 Cal.App.2d 42, 54–55), and sales records (*Keith v. Electrical Engineering Co.* (1902) 136 Cal. 178, 181). (Petition at 27–28.)

In every case cited by the Harts, the documents deemed admissible under Section 1220 actually existed. (Jazayeri, supra, 174 Cal.App.4th at 320–21 ["the PCCs provided in response to Jazayeri's FOIA request were properly authenticated"]; Horton v. Remillard Brick Co. (1915) 170 Cal. 384, 400 ["trial court, rightly, as we think, admitted these exhibits (which showed the profits as just stated) on the theory that they constituted at least prima facie admissions"]; StreetScenes v. ITC Entertainment Group, Inc. (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 233, 244 ["the balance sheets were authenticated"]; Shenson v. Shenson (1954) 124 Cal.App.2d 747, 751–52 [the admitted

income tax returns were signed by the defendant]; Sill Properties, Inc. v. CMAG, Inc. (1963) 219 Cal.App.2d 42, 54–55 [board of directors minutes regarding statement of the value of certain assets made pursuant to Corporations Code section 1112 admitted into evidence]; Keith v. Electrical Engineering Co. (1902) 136 Cal. 178, 181 ["no error in the admission of the paper containing a statement of sales made by defendant"].)

The Opinion creates no conflict of law, nor does this case present a novel issue regarding Section 1220's party admission exception to the hearsay rule. The Harts lack the requisite ability to show that Keenan actually made the specific statements offered via the testimony of Mr. Glamuzina. As there is no proof that Keenan actually made these statements, there can be no finding that the statements were a party admission under Section 1220. (*Pansini v. Weber* (1942) 53 Cal.App.2d 1, 5.)

III. Petitioners advocate for the abolishment of the requirement of authentication of a document for any business that is known to issue an invoice.

Evidence Code section 1401 requires authentication of a writing before it, or secondary evidence of its content may be received in evidence. The *Hart* Opinion is in line with the statute. Even if Mr. Glamuzina's testimony regarding the disputed documents were found to not be hearsay, or that the party admission exception applies, Plaintiffs must still satisfy the threshold showing of authenticity as the proponent of secondary evidence of a writing.

In their Petition for Review, the Harts do not contend that the Opinion creates a split among lower courts regarding authentication of documents or that there is some novel, important question of law regarding authentication that requires Supreme Court review. (See Petition at 30-33.) Instead, the Harts argue that the Court of Appeal wrongly decided the issue and themselves advocate for a new, unprecedented means of authentication.

Under the Hart's formulation, if a business's customary practice is to create sales receipts, and a witness provides secondary evidence of a receipt allegedly from that business, the document must be authentic. (Petition at 30.) There is no authority for a rule that would effectively make the authentication requirement pointless. As the Opinion correctly notes, "courts do not assume 'documents are what they purport to be Generally speaking, documents must be authenticated in some fashion before they are admissible in evidence." (Opinion at 15; quoting *Continental Baking Co. v. Katz* (1968) 68 Cal.2d 512, 525.)

As in *Osborne v. Todd Farm Services* (2016) 247 Cal.App.4th 43, 53, there are circumstances that cast the very existence of the invoice into doubt. In *Osborne*, the plaintiff did not possess the physical document and no witness other than the plaintiff claimed to have ever seen the receipt. (*Id.* at 53.) Here, the disputed document does not exist and Mr. Glamuzina is the only source of evidence regarding the document. In *Osborne*, the defendant

claimed that no such receipt ever existed. (*Ibid.*) Here, Keenan's corporate representative had "no information whatsoever that Keenan ever sold anything that was used in the McKinleyville work while Mr. Hart was working there." (Opinion at 15.) Further, Keenan produced authenticated invoices from Johns-Manville showing that Johns-Manville sold pipe directly to Christeve and shipped that pipe directly to Christeve at McKinleyville. (7 RT 1828:16–1835:23.) The Harts contend that Olga Mitrovich, Christeve's bookkeeper in the 1970s, recalled seeing Keenan invoices. (Petition at 32.) The Harts fail to note that Mitrovich also testified that she did not know if Christeve ever ordered asbestos-cement pipe from Keenan and did not know if Keenan was a supplier to the McKinleyville job. (9 RT 2462:5–11.) The Opinion's reasoning is sound. There is no sufficient evidence to authenticate the disputed invoices.

The Harts cite *People ex Rel. Harris v. Sarpas* (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1539, 1571 to support their proposition that "custom and practice" is sufficient to authenticate a writing. In *Sarpas*, the California Attorney General was litigating claims for unfair competition and false advertising against defendants who were accused of operating a business that promised loan modification services, but there was no evidence that the defendants ever "obtained a single loan modification, or provided anything of value, for its customers." (*Id.* at 1543.) The trial court received in evidence an exhibit

consisting of the front and back sides of over 1,900 checks from over 1,200 customers. (*Id.* at 1570.) The exhibit was "received into evidence for the limited purpose" of showing that the defendants' bank had deposited into the defendants' account the amount of money that appeared on the face of the check. (*Id.* at 1570.) "The Attorney General authenticated the checks with testimony from a representative of Bank of America about how the checks were processed and the bank's custom and practice in accepting and negotiating the checks. The trial court accepted this testimony as sufficient to authenticate the checks for the purpose for which they were received in evidence. Sarpas and Fasela[, the defendants,] do not challenge this testimony." (*Id.* at 1571.)

Certainly, it was more expeditious to use the bank to authenticate the more than 1,900 checks than to track down the 1,259 customers who had written those checks. *Sarpas* hardly stands for the creation of a new means of authentication as suggested by the Harts. *Sarpas* provides no illustrative facts to explain what is meant by "custom and practice" other than what is stated above. Moreover, "custom and practice in accepting and negotiating the checks" does not stand alone. The bank representative also testified about how the checks were processed. Notably, the documents at issue in *Sarpas* actually existed and, presumably, the provenance of the checks could be traced. As the proponents of the evidence here, the Harts have provided no

such evidence. On this threshold issue, the documents described by Mr. Glamuzina are not authenticated and are independently inadmissible on that basis alone.

As the Harts observed in their Response Brief to the Court of Appeal, "Evidence Code section 1521(c) explicitly provides that the proponent of secondary must still satisfy the threshold of authenticity." (RB at 58.) While Section 1521 permits the introduction of "otherwise admissible secondary evidence" to prove the contents of a writing, "it does not excuse the proponent from complying with other rules of evidence, most notably, the hearsay rule." (Pajaro Valley Water Mgmt. Agency v. McGrath (2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 1093, 1108.) Proponents of secondary evidence must still satisfy all the rules of governing admissibility of evidence, including the hearsay rule. (Dart Industries, Inc. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co. (2002) 28 Cal.4th 1059, 1070, fn. 2.) Under Section 1521, the Harts can only introduce secondary evidence to establish the contents of the disputed invoices if (1) the contents themselves were admissible, and (2) the secondary evidence was "otherwise admissible." (See Pajaro Valley Water Mgmt. Agency v. McGrath (2005) 128 Cal. App. 4th 1093, 1108.) The contents of the disputed invoices were hearsay. "In the absence of a showing that they came within an exception, secondary evidence of their contents was no more admissible than the bills themselves, which is to say, not at all." (*Id.*)

The Court of Appeal appropriately followed precedent. Citing no convincing authority, the Harts argue for a new, unprecedented means of authentication. The Harts cite to no conflict of law on the issue of authentication and do not identify a novel question of law in need of the Supreme Court's review.

IV. There is no novel question of law emanating from the facts of this case necessitating Supreme Court review.

The Harts complain that the Opinion left open the question of whether testimony regarding the name on product packaging will now be excluded as hearsay, citing Weber v. John Crane, Inc. (2006) 143 Cal. App. 4th 1433, 1439 (which included discussion of whether a defendant must show a product exemplar logo for burden shifting on a summary judgment motion), and McGonnell v. Kaiser Gypsum Company, Inc. (2002) 1098, 1101 (plaintiff testified he had seen bags of cement bearing defendant's name). The Harts are attempting to manufacture an issue not arising from their case. The Opinion explicitly leaves the issue identified by the Harts as untouched: "Here, we are not called upon to determine the proper basis for admitting testimony regarding a witness's observation of a company's name or logo on a product." (Opinion at 10.) Nothing has changed about how a plaintiff will identify the manufacturer of a bag of cement or a name on a truck that drove into a crowd. The Opinion serves to apply the *Pacific Gas* and *Osborne* holdings to asbestos-related cases where the liability of a supplier turns on

the contents of disputed documents that are not before the fact-finder and

trial courts (and plaintiff counsel) may believe a different set of rules apply.

The scenarios posed by Petitioners that supposedly wreak havoc

actually do not apply to the facts of this case. None of the scenarios address

whether hearsay testimony based on an unauthenticated document can be

admitted.

CONCLUSION

This case presents no issue worthy of review. The Opinion is

consistent with *Pacific Gas* and *Osborne*. The Court of Appeal correctly

found that the disputed invoices were not properly authenticated as there was

no evidence that supported the Harts' contention that the documents were

what the Harts purported them to be. Further, when the secondary evidence

of the contents of those disputed invoices were used as the Harts' sole basis

to prove that Keenan supplied the pipe in question, the Court of Appeal

appropriately found the disputed invoices to be hearsay. The petition for

review should be denied.